
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MEETING DATE: Thursday, July 27, 2023
PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A
TIME: 3:00 pm

AGENDA

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83366576521 \ 
Or One tap mobile : 
    +16469313860,,83366576521# US 
Webinar ID: 833 6657 6521 

1. Call to Order: 3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes: BRA Minutes of June 22, 2023

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Disclosure of Interest Statement(s)

7. Consent Agenda – Invoices
a. From General 243 Fund

i. $ 2,294.95 - Fishbeck Invoice 425333 (W.O. 22-1 Gen. Environmental)
ii. $ 24,726.80 - FY 2023 Q2 Administrative reimbursement to Planning Dept

(County Fiscal Year)
b. From EPA Grant

i. $ 286.50 – Fishbeck Invoice 425337 (Outreach & Programmatic)
ii. $ 2,303.21 - Fishbeck Invoice 426125 (Comstock Center)
iii. $ 731.87 – Fishbeck Invoice 425256 (555 Eliza St Expansion)
iv. $1,525.78 – Fishbeck Invoice 426124 (Midlink Expansion)

c. Project Business
i. Q3 FY 2023 Authorization of Staff to Submit to EGLE Grant and Loan Report

(State Fiscal Year)
ii. $548.69 - Q3 FY23 EGLE Admin Invoice (State Fiscal Year)

8. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Discussion/Action: Redman Ventures, LLC

i. Project Application Part I & Part II



ii. Fishbeck Work Order #11 EPA Grant – Redman Ventures, LLC

b. Discussion/Action: Hollander Development, Legacy Senior Living

i. Project Application Part I & Part II

ii. Fishbeck Work Order #12 EPA Grant – Legacy Senior Living

c. Discussion/Action: YWCA

i. Project Application Part I & Part II

ii. Fishbeck Work Order #13 EPA Grant – YWCA

d. Discussion/Action: 440 NC, LLC Memo of Understanding with City BRA

e. Discussion/Action: Developer Reimbursements

i. $526,957.60 - Midlink 19th TIF Reimbursement (2021 Local TIR)

ii. $6,227.14 - 9008 Portage Road 2nd TIF Reimbursement ($2,220.39 State &
$4,006.75 Local)

f. Discussion/Action: National Brownfields Conference August 8-11, 2023
i. $1, 00 - Director Budget (1 Director)

g. Discussion/Action: Kalamazoo Black Business Expo, August 26th, 2023
i. Information Booth: Registration $75

h. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck

i. Act 381 Legislation Changes: Housing Incentives

ii. Midlink Brownfield Plan Amendment Memo

iii. EPA Grant

1. Work Order #6 Amendment EPA Grant - Parchment Mill Site #2

2. Contract Memo & Summary

iv. General Environmental Contract Memo & Summary



9. Financial Reports
a. Fund 243 Q2 FY23 Report and Fund 242 Summary

10.Staff Report/Updates
a. LBRF Policy Draft 2 Update
b. IPUSA Collateral Assignment of Development Agreement Signed
c. Graphic Packaging Update

11.Committees - times dates and places
a. Land Bank Report – next meeting, August 10, 2023 at 8:30 a.m.
b. Project/Finance Committee – Thursday, August, TBD, 2023, 4:00 p.m.
c. Executive Committee – Friday, August, TBD, 2023 9:15 a.m.

12.Other

13.Board Member Comments

14.Adjournment

Next Meeting: Thursday, August 24, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for
electronic meeting notice and instructions

BOARD MEMBERS:
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING
Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling:

Macy Rose Walters
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator
Kalamazoo County Government
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305



KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MEETING DATE: Thursday, June 22, 2023
PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A
TIME: 3:00 pm

DRAFT - MINUTES 

Present: Kenneth Peregon, Gary Barton, Christopher Carew, Connie Ferguson, Jared Lutz,
Jodi Milks, and Andrew Wenzel 
Members Excused: Monteze Morales and David (Wei) Wang 
Vacancies: none
Kalamazoo Township: Steven Leuty  
Oshtemo Township: none
Staff: Rachael Grover, Macy Rose Walters 
Consultant:  Therese Searles, Fishbeck 
Recording Secretary:
County Commissioners: none
County Admin: none
Community: 4

1. Call to Order: Chair Peregon called the meeting to order at 3:10 p.m. and noted that
the meeting is being recorded.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: David (Wei) Wang and Commissioner Morales were
excused.

3. Approval of the Agenda:

Item 8di was added to the agenda, none opposed, Wenzel motioned to approve item
3 as amended. Milks seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

4. Approval of Minutes: BRA Minutes of May 25, 2023

Wenzel moved to approve item 4, the Minutes, Lutz seconded. None opposed, motion
carried.

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each) None

6. Disclosure of Interest:  Director Lutz disclosed their employment by Michigan Growth
Advisors, a subsidiary of Miller Johnson, and their employer’s interest in item 8d.

7. Consent Agenda – Invoices
a. From General 243 Fund

i. $ 341.00 – Varnum Invoice 1304417 (100 Island Ave, LLC)
ii. $ 2,226.61 - Fishbeck Invoice 424170 (General Environmental)



b. From EPA Grant
i. $ 480.25 - Fishbeck Invoice 424164 (Midlink Expansion)
ii. $ 730.55 - Fishbeck Invoice 424168 (555 Eliza Street Expansion)
iii. $ 334.25 - Fishbeck Invoice 424176 (Outreach & Programmatic)
iv. $ 1,696.79 – Fishbeck Invoice 424166 (Comstock Center)

c. Project Business
i. $ 1,437.50 - Fishbeck Invoice 424171 (EGLE Grant)

Barton motioned to approve item 7, the Consent Agenda, Milks seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried.

8. Discussion and/or Action Calendar
d. Discussion/Action: IPUSA Pavilion 1, LLC

i. Collateral Assignment of Brownfield Plan Development Agreement
Richard Deahl from Great Lakes Capital presented the agreement, the reassignment 
of collateral regarding the IPUSA project, between the developer, the Kalamazoo
County Land Bank Authority, and 1st Source Bank. Richard detailed the impact of
action on the item, regarding the timeline of the project, and the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Development Authority’s consent of the agreement by July 1st, 2023.
Discussion ensued regarding formatting errors. Director Wang requested language
be added to the agreement that released the Kalamazoo County Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority from any liabilities to the Borrower that might otherwise
lead to payments rendered under the development agreement to the lender. 

Carew moved to conditionally approve item 8di, authorizing the Chair to sign 
the consent waiver attached to the agreement, pending formatting updates and
liability language be added to the agreement. Milks seconded. A roll call vote 
was taken, the motion carried with 6 Yes and Director Lutz abstained from 
voting and the discussion.

a. Discussion/Action: Developer Reimbursements 2022 Tax Increment Revenue

i. $5,137.46 - 232 LLC 5th TIF Reimbursement (Local TIR)

ii. $20,856.32 – 383 S. Pitcher Street 5th TIR Reimbursement

($7,732.71 State & $13,123.61 Local)

iii. $1,640.98 – Blackbird Billiards 7th TIF Reimbursement

($675.15 State & $965.83 Local)

iv. $4,890.06 – Metal Mechanics 7th TIF Reimbursement (Local TIR)



 

 

Fergusson moved to approve item(s) 8ai-8aiv, developer reimbursements from 
2022 tax increment revenue, Milks seconded. None opposed, motion carried.  

 

b. Discussion/Action:  Vicksburg Mill – Paper City Development, LLC 

i. $292.50 - Reimbursement to Paper City for 2nd Quarter FY 23 Loan 
(Pending Proof of Payment and Waiver of Lien; EGLE Approved 5/31/2023) 

Milks moved to approve item 8bi, pending proof of payment and lien waivers, 
Carew seconded. None opposed, motion carried. 
 

c. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck 
i. EPA Grant Contract Memo & Summary 

1. $548.40 - Fishbeck Invoice 424169 (Watershed Project Kalamazoo, 
LLC) 

Staff updated the board on the status of Watershed Project Kalamazoo, LLC, 
located at 6667 Stadium Drive in Oshtemo Township. The property was listed for 
sale by the developer and activity on the site has paused. Item 8ci1 is the 
outstanding costs associated with the site.  

Lutz motioned to approve item 8ci1, Fishbeck invoice 424169, Milks seconded. 
None opposed, motion carried.  

ii. General Environmental Contract Memo & Summary

Fishbeck staff presented the EPA Grant and General Environmental 
Contract(s) memos and summaries.  

 

9. Financial Reports: 
a. 243 (247), and 242 (643) 

Staff presented the financial reports.  

10. Staff Report/Updates
a. Midlink Expansion LBRF Funding Request 
b. 555 Eliza Street Expansion LBRF Funding Request 
c. KCBRA Board Retreat (Summary & Next Steps) 
d. KCBRA LBRF Policy Draft II 
e. National Brownfields Conference (Board Member Attendance) 

 
11. Committees - times dates and places 

a. Land Bank Report – Thursday, July 13, 2023, at 8:30 a.m. 
b. Project/Finance Committee – Thursday, July 13, 2023, 4:00 p.m. 
c. Executive Committee – Friday, July 14, 2023, 9:15 a.m.  



12.Other

13.Board Member Comments

Steven Leuty updated the board on recent conversations with EGLE, and the approval of 
site plans by Kalamazoo Township related to soil piles located on parcels within the
Graphic Packaging Brownfield Plan.

14.Adjournment: Meeting adjourned at 4:28 p.m.

Next Meeting: on Thursday, July 27, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for
electronic meeting notice and instructions

BOARD MEMBERS:
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING
Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling:

Macy Rose Walters
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator
Kalamazoo County Government
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305



For Professional Services Rendered Through 6/30/2023

Current Billings 2,294.95

Amount Due This Bill 2,294.95

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

GR - General Review 14,000.00 9,150.64 7,144.31 4,849.36 2,294.95

Rate Labor 2,280.00

Expenses 14.95

CAS - Contractual Administrative Support 6,000.00 5,396.25 603.75 603.75 0.00

Total Fee : 20,000.00

To Date Billings : 7,748.06

Total Remaining : 12,251.94

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 425333
Invoice Date : 7/12/2023

Project : 230454
Project Name : KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen 

Environmental Review
Bill Term : BT1

Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review Invoice:   425333

GR - General Review
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

0.25 140.0000 35.00David Stegink
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 6.50 105.0000 682.50

6.50 682.50Total Senior Geologist

Senior Hydrogeologist
9.00 150.0000 1,350.00Jeffrey Hawkins

Staff Environmental Specialist
Logan Mulholland 2.50 85.0000 212.50

Total Rate Labor 2,280.00
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Travel/Lodging

Therese Searles 13.00 1.15 14.95

Total Expenses 14.95

Total Bill Task: GR - General Review 2,294.95

Total Project:   230454 - KCBRA/W.O. 2023-1 Gen Environmental Review 2,294.95



Planning & Development Department



For Professional Services Rendered Through 6/30/2023

Current Billings 286.50

Amount Due This Bill 286.50

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment 
Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

5,000.00 1,825.74 3,460.76 3,174.26 286.50

Rate Labor 286.50

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 425337
Invoice Date : 7/12/2023

Project : E210229
Project Name : KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant 

-W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

Bill Term : BT1

Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and Programmatic Invoice:   425337

COMM - Community Outreach & Programmatic
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 3.00 95.5000 286.50

Total Rate Labor 286.50

Total Project:   E210229 - KCBRA/FY21 EPA Assessment Grant -W.O. 2 Community Outreach and 
Programmatic

286.50



For Professional Services Rendered Through 6/30/2023

Current Billings 2,303.21

Amount Due This Bill 2,303.21

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center 
Redevelopment

Elg & PH1 - Eligibility & Phase I ESA 4,000.00 2,303.21 4,000.00 1,696.79 2,303.21

Rate Labor 2,303.21

PH2 ESA - Phase II ESA 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 22,000.00

To Date Billings : 4,000.00

Total Remaining : 18,000.00

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 426125
Invoice Date : 7/19/2023

Project : 230924
Project Name : KCBRA /Comstock Center 

Redevelopment
Bill Term : BT1

Project:   230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center Redevelopment Invoice:   426125

Elg & PH1 - Eligibility & Phase I ESA
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Scientist

Aaron Bigler 6/9/2023 2.00 84.9000 169.80
Phase I ESA

6/12/2023 1.00 84.9000 84.90
Phase I ESA

2.00 84.9000 169.806/21/2023
Phase I Site Walkover - Dopp Properties

6/26/2023 7.75 84.9000 657.98
Phase I ESA

6/27/2023 7.00 84.9000 594.30
Phase I ESA

6/29/2023 4.00 84.9000 339.60
Phase I ESA

Total Aaron Bigler 23.75 2,016.38
23.75 2,016.38Total Scientist

Senior Hydrogeologist
Erik Peterson 6/30/2023 1.25 95.5000 119.38

P1 review
Staff Technician

Shelbey Senkewitz 6/30/2023 2.75 60.8900 167.45
Edit/build Phase I ESA

Total Rate Labor 2,303.21

Total Bill Task: Elg & PH1 - Eligibility & Phase I ESA 2,303.21

Total Project:   230924 - KCBRA /Comstock Center Redevelopment 2,303.21



WO #9

For Professional Services Rendered Through 6/30/2023

Current Billings 731.87

Amount Due This Bill 731.87

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

PH II - Phase II ESA 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00 7,269.45 1,462.42 730.55 731.87

Rate Labor 725.87

Expenses 6.00

BPA - Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 15,000.00

To Date Billings : 1,462.42

Total Remaining : 13,537.58

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 425256
Invoice Date : 7/10/2023

Project : 230914
Project Name : KCBRA/Eliza Street, Schoolcraft/MI

Bill Term : BT1



Project:   230914 - KCBRA/Eliza Street, Schoolcraft/MI Invoice:   425256

BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

David Stegink 6/8/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10
status check

6/9/2023 0.25 122.1000 30.53

6/12/2023 0.50 122.1000 61.05

6/22/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10

Total David Stegink 2.75 335.78
Total Senior Environmental Specialist 2.75 335.78

Staff Environmental Specialist
Logan Mulholland 6/8/2023 0.75 74.3000 55.73

Follow up, discuss with DAS
6/22/2023 0.50 74.3000 37.15

ELIZA review/TIF
6/23/2023 1.25 74.3000 92.88

Draft TIF Table, review loan
6/26/2023 2.75 74.3000 204.33

Edit to TIF tables
Total Logan Mulholland 5.25 390.09

Total Staff Environmental Specialist 5.25 390.09

Total Rate Labor 725.87
Expenses
Account / Vendor Cost Multiplier Amount
Miscellaneous

Logan Mulholland 6.00 1.00 6.00

Total Expenses 6.00

Total Bill Task: BPE - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 731.87

Total Project:   230914 - KCBRA/Eliza Street, Schoolcraft/MI 731.87

Page: 1



For Professional Services Rendered Through 6/30/2023

Current Billings 1,525.78

Amount Due This Bill 1,525.78

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park 
Expansion

6,500.00 6,019.75 2,006.03 480.25 1,525.78

Rate Labor 1,525.78

Contract : MIDeal
Contract Name : MIDeal Contracts

Total Fee : 6,500.00

To Date Billings : 2,006.03

Total Remaining : 4,493.97

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 426124
Invoice Date : 7/19/2023

Project : 230923
Project Name : KCBRA /Midlink Business Park 

Expansion
Bill Term : BT1



Project:   230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion Invoice:   426124

230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 6/22/2023 0.50 95.5000 47.75
status update BF costs

6/27/2023 2.00 95.5000 191.00
Project planning discussions with JCH and LM

6/28/2023 0.25 95.5000 23.88
Reimbursement Analysis, quick review

6/29/2023 1.00 95.5000 95.50
project planning mtg with LM,

Total Therese Searles 3.75 358.13
Total Senior Geologist 3.75 358.13

Senior Hydrogeologist
Jeffrey Hawkins 6/1/2023 1.00 122.1000 122.10

call with Midlink and engineers to gather additional detail on LBRF request
6/27/2023 0.50 122.1000 61.05

met with TMS and Kirk P. re: amendment to BFPlan
Total Jeffrey Hawkins 1.50 183.15

Total Senior Hydrogeologist 1.50 183.15
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 6/1/2023 1.00 74.3000 74.30
Call w Midlink and JCH

6/7/2023 0.25 74.3000 18.58
Review spreadsheet with TS

6/22/2023 0.75 74.3000 55.73
Review costs - edit spreadsheet

6/23/2023 0.25 74.3000 18.58
update to MW

6/27/2023 0.50 74.3000 37.15
midlink next steps with tms, email assessor

6/28/2023 6.25 74.3000 464.38
Review all 41 parcels, gather 2023 TV, review files, begin TIF Model

6/29/2023 2.50 74.3000 185.75
Call with KP, Call with TS, review spreadsheet, review reimbursement analysis

6/30/2023 1.75 74.3000 130.03
Review balance on reimbursements, email rob, email macy, call KP

Total Logan Mulholland 13.25 984.50
Total Staff Environmental Specialist 13.25 984.50

Total Rate Labor 1,525.78

Total Bill Task: 230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion 1,525.78

Total Project:   230923 - KCBRA /Midlink Business Park Expansion 1,525.78

Page: 1



EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT
AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:N/A

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Apr 1, 2023 End: Jun 30, 2023 Quarter: 3 (Apr-June) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2025

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number
(refer to approved

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check

number or other reference)

BRA-EGLE
GL Q3 2023 Jun 30, 2023 Kalamazoo County Task 5  $408.39 Pending

2250 Jun 30, 2023 Phillips Environmental Task 2G  $1,105.00 Pending

TOTAL:  $1,513.39 

PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan
Budget

Approved to
Date

Invoiced This
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems

encountered)

1. Assessment
and

Investigation
 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

2. Due Care  $755,617.00  $1,105.00  $375,979.97 Due care planning for Phase 1 project buildings

3. Demolition  $407,590.00  $0.00  $392,435.72 N/A

4. 3rd Party
Oversight  $40,000.00  $0.00  $9,732.50 N/A

5. Loan
Administration  $37,500.00  $408.39  $10,102.69 Admin and Budget Summary

6. Contingency  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

TOTALS:  $1,240,707.00  $1,513.39  $788,250.88 



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 3 (Apr-June)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: N/A

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

Continue Due Care Planning and Documentation during next phase of redevelopment.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.



EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

    517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant 
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS 
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

    BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
    GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT  
    AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:22

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Apr 1, 2023 End: Jun 30, 2023 Quarter: 3 (Apr-June) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2023

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number 
(refer to approved 

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check 

number or other reference)

423213 May 10, 2023 Fishbeck

3rd Party 
Oversight

Contingency
Task 6A

 $86.25 

BRA-EGLE-
Q2G2023 Jun 30, 2023 Kalamazoo County Planning Dept Grant Admin 

Task 5  $140.49 Pending

2249 Jun 30, 2023 Phillips Environmental Consulting Grant Task 5  $1,852.50 Pending

424171 Jun 08, 2023 Fishbeck

3rd Party 
Oversight

Contingency
Task 6A

 $1,437.50 

TOTAL:  $3,516.74 

             PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

1. Assessment 
and

Investigation
 $387,892.00  $0.00  $388,151.31 Summary Preparation of VI Investigation. Budget adjustment 

request forthcoming. 

2. Due Care  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

3. Demolition  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 3 (Apr-June)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: 22

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

4. 3rd Party 
Oversight  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

5. Grant 
Administration  $11,000.00  $1,992.99  $12,559.61 Admin and Budget Summary. Final Grant Report Preparation.

6A. 3rd party 
Oversight  $13,208.00  $1,523.75  $13,107.50 3rd Party Oversight

6B PFAS Soil 
Assess. for 
Waste Mgt.

 $16,000.00  $0.00  $15,583.67 Summary Preparation of PFAS Soil Sampling.

6C. Grant 
Work Plan 

Prep
 $1,200.00  $0.00  $1,200.00 N/A

6D. Well 
Abandonment
for Due Care

 $20,700.00  $0.00  $14,713.27 Summary Preparation of Well Abandonment and 
Investigation Activities.

TOTALS:  $450,000.00  $3,516.74  $445,315.36 

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

Complete final documentation all tasks completed under the Grant and grant close-out documents prior to June 30, 2023.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.



Invoice
DATE

6/30/2023

INVOICE #

2250

BILL TO

Paper City Development
101 South Main Street
Vicksburg, MI 49097

Phillips Environmental
Consulting Services. Inc.

201 North Michigan Avenue
Vicksburg, MI 49097

PROJECT

1046A - Vicksburg Mill

Loan Task 2G - Due Care M&P

Phone #

269-501-5079

Total

Balance Due

DATE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY RATE AMOUNT

5/3/2023 Due care planning - call with Spicer Group regarding planning for dam just upgradient
of site and due care requirements for them to sample sediments. Request permission to
send relevant information and begin preparation of updated Stream Sampling Due
Care Management Plan.

1 130.00 130.00

5/24/2023 Review request for stream access for crayfish testing and provide information. 0.5 130.00 65.00
5/31/2023 Finalize updated Stream Due Care Management Plan and send to Spice Group with

regard to planned investigation associated with the upstream dam.
1 130.00 130.00

5/31/2023 Review site plans for Due Care. 1.5 130.00 195.00
6/1/2023 Meet with Rebecca re new phase of the project and Due Care considerations. 1 130.00 130.00
6/5/2023 Outline due care for Phase I Development based on preliminary plans and existing

data.
2.5 130.00 325.00

6/13/2023 Conference call with EGLE and County and 3rd Party Administrator. Including prep. 0.75 130.00 97.50
6/15/2023 Respond to due care concerns about stream sampling and send Stream Sampling

Management Plan (previously sent to Spicer Group) to County Drain Commissioner.
0.25 130.00 32.50

$1,105.00

$1,105.00



Planning & Development Department

















Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 
Work Order No. 11 Dated July 27, 2023 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: Redman Ventures, LLC – 6667 Stadium Drive, Oshtemo Township 
Funding Source: U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant FY21 

Task 1 – Phase I ESA 
Task 2 – Phase II Assessments 
Task 3 – Brownfield Plan  

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title CEO 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 11 
July 27, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 11 - 6667 
STADIUM.DOCX

I. Scope of Services 
The property that is the subject of this Work Order is a former schoolhouse building located at 6667 Stadium 
Drive in Oshtemo Township. The property consists of one parcel that is approximately 1.33 acres and is developed 
with a 3,726-square-foot former schoolhouse building that was constructed in 1870. The southern addition to the 
former schoolhouse building was constructed in the 1950s. Also, an approximately 5,700-square-foot former bus 
garage exists on the property. The subject property is not currently operating for any specific purpose. Years 
without use and significant water intrusion have caused the structure to become severely dilapidated and unsafe 
in its current condition. Significant investment will be needed in order to safely reuse the site. The previous 
owners/developers requested financial support through the KCBRA to conduct assessment activities related to 
proposed redevelopment. However, they encountered significantly higher than anticipated redevelopment costs 
and decided to sell the property. Redman Ventures, LLC will be purchasing the property and has submitted a 
project application to the KCBRA requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. EPA Assessment 
Grant. Proposed redevelopment plans include restoring the school building to its original 1870’s charm with 
upgrades to modern amenities. The interior will also be designed as a tribute to the students, teachers and staff 
of Chime School of yesteryear, along with local partners of the modern educational age such as WMU, KVCC, and 
Kalamazoo College. 

U.S. EPA eligibility was received, a Health and Safety Plan (HASP) accepted, and a Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) 
approved by the EPA for this site. Proposed scope of services included in this work order consist of updates to the 
U.S. EPA eligibility to inform the EPA Grant Project Officer of a new owner. Fishbeck is of the understanding this 
will not require another waiting period for review and approval. A simple update indicating new ownership can be 
forwarded on to the EPA for accurate record retention. There are no changes to the health and safety evaluation 
or proposed sampling. Proposed scope of services also include a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) for 
the new ownership entity and performing an asbestos survey to determine if asbestos-containing materials exist 
that will require abatement prior to renovation. The former bus garage is also included in the scope of the 
asbestos survey. However, based on information provided to Fishbeck, it is not presumed that the former bus 
garage will contain significant quantities, if any, of asbestos-containing materials. If conditions on site are 
different than presented, scope and budget may increase. Fishbeck will not conduct any activities that would 
result in an increase in the budget as presented without first contacting KCBRA staff. Brownfield Plan evaluation 
activities are also included in this work order to work with the township assessor to determine anticipated Future 
Taxable Value and run TIF modeling to determine if a Brownfield Plan would be an appropriate tool for this 
project. After the evaluation is complete, the KCBRA may consider preparation of a Brownfield Plan to allow for 
the reimbursement of eligible activities needed to redevelop the property. If desired, preparation of a Brownfield 
Plan would be covered in a subsequent work order.  

II. Compensation
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Eligibility Update and Phase I ESA .................................................................................................................... $ 3,200 
Asbestos Survey ............................................................................................................................................... $ 5,000 
Brownfield Plan Evaluation .............................................................................................................................. $ 3,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #11.………………………………………………………………………………………………….$11,200 



Work Order No. 11 
July 27, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 3 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 11 - 6667 
STADIUM.DOCX 

III. Schedule 
The eligibility update, and any minor updates needed to the HASP and SAP, will be prepared immediately upon 
authorization of this work order. These documents will be submitted to the KCBRA Brownfield Administrator for 
submittal to the U.S. EPA. It is anticipated that the asbestos survey field work can be scheduled within two weeks 
pending availability, one week for laboratory turnaround, and an additional week to prepare the report. Fishbeck 
will also work with the developer to determine eligible costs and the local assessor to determine brownfield 
eligibility and potential tax increment. Results of the asbestos survey will inform the conversation on determining 
eligible costs. Therefore, TIF modeling will be conducted after receiving results of the asbestos survey, and it is 
anticipated that the planning evaluation process will take an additional two weeks after the asbestos survey is 
complete. 

 



Macy Rose Walters
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
201 W Kalamazoo Ave
Kalamazoo,MI 49008

Re: 730 N Burdick Street - Hollander Development

Mrs.Walters,

Hollander Development Corporation, in collaboration with Mt. Zion Baptist Church of
Kalamazoo, has been awarded low-income tax credits to develop a 70-unit multi-family
apartment community for seniors in Kalamazoo's Northside Neighborhood.

Our objective is to create high-quality housing that enables senior citizens in the Northside
community to age in place. We are committed to constructing the Northern building in
accordance with the rigorous Passive House US (PHIUS) design standard, achieving an
exceptional level of energy efficiency and resident comfort. Additionally, the Northern building
is designed to be on a path to achieving net-zero energy consumption. The South building will be
certified to either the LEED or Enterprise Green Communities standard. Our aim is to establish a
valuable community asset that will provide affordable housing for seniors for the next 45 years.

To ensure the project's environmental integrity, our team has conducted Phase 1 and Phase 2
environmental assessments and recognizes the need for additional testing. We look forward to
collaborating with Kalamazoo County to garner support for this exceptional project.



















Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 
Work Order No. 12 Dated July 27, 2023 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: Hollander Development – Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick Street, Kalamazoo, MI 
Funding Source: U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant FY21 

Task 3 – Cleanup Planning 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title CEO 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 12 
July 27, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 12- HOLLANDER 
DEVELOPMENT LEGACY SENIOR.DOCX 

I. Scope of Services 
Hollander Development Corporation (Hollander), in partnership with Mt. Zion Baptist Church of Kalamazoo, has 
been awarded low-income tax credits to develop a 70-unit multi-family apartment community for seniors in 
Kalamazoo’s Northside Neighborhood. The community is designed as a sustainable development that provides 
much needed affordable housing options and allows residents to age in place. The property consists of 14 current 
parcels that will be combined and addressed as 730 N. Burdick Street. Phase I and II Environmental Site 
Assessments have already been completed. Sampling has identified existing contamination, but further cleanup 
planning is needed to safely reuse the site and support redevelopment. Fishbeck will prepare a Response Activity 
Plan (ReSAP), inclusive of the development of a conceptual site model (CSM) that details all available 
environmental data for the project site and discusses potential unacceptable contaminant exposure pathways 
relative to the planned redevelopment of the site. The ReSAP will be prepared to satisfy requirements by the 
Michigan State Housing Development Authority (MSHDA) for tax credit support for the planned development. The 
plan will present a detailed description of response activities that will be undertaken to eliminate unacceptable 
exposures. The preparation of the CSM, including a discussion of proposed response activities, is critical to 
efficiently communicating site conditions with the EGLE. Once completed, the ReSAP will be submitted to EGLE 
for review and concurrence that the property is, or will be, safe for its planned end use following the completion 
of necessary response activities to mitigate unacceptable risk for all complete exposure pathways.  

First steps of the proposed scope of services included in this work order includes seeking U.S. EPA eligibility, 
preparing a Health and Safety Plan (HASP), and a Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) for the site. Additionally,  
budget for Brownfield cleanup planning including communicating with regulatory agencies and evaluating 
leveraged funds to support the safe reuse of the site is also requested. 

II. Compensation 
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

ReSAP/CSM………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….$17,500 
Brownfield Cleanup Planning…….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………$5,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #12.………………………………………………………………………………………………….$22,500 

III. Schedule 
An eligibility demonstration will be prepared immediately upon authorization to proceed and submitted to the 
KCBRA Brownfield Administrator for submittal to the U.S. EPA. Within one week of receiving elgibility, the HASP 
and SAP will be prepared. It takes approximately two weeks for the EPA to review the HASP and SAP documents.  
Additional response activities will follow the approximate timeline listed below: 

 CSM with Planned Response Activity 2 weeks 
 Preliminary Discussion with EGLE  2 weeks 
 Preparation and Submittal of ReSAP 6 weeks 
 EGLE Review of ReSAP 6–15 weeks 

 















Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 
Work Order No. 13 Dated July 27, 2023 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD And FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: YWCA – 550 S. Riverview Drive, City of Parchment 
Funding Source: U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant FY21 

Task 3 – Cleanup Planning 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title CEO 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 13 
July 27, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 13- YWCA_550 
RIVERVIEW.DOCX 

I. Scope of Services 
The Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA) of Kalamazoo, Michigan is requesting funding for assessment, 
planning and design of a vapor mitigation system (“Project”) for the building located at 550 S. Riverview Drive, 
Parchment, Michigan (“Property”).  The Property was occupied by Advia Credit Union (“Advia”) and served as its 
headquarters.  Advia’s headquarters have now moved and the Property is listed for sale.  The YWCA has entered 
into a purchase agreement with Advia, and is in the process of completing its due diligence before making a 
decision about whether to purchase the Property. Recent sampling undertaken during the due diligence period 
has detected hazardous substances present at the Property, some of which may have the potential to volatilize 
into the building (vapor intrusion, or “VI”). The YWCA is not willing to occupy the Building and risk the health of its 
employees, clients or tenant (Advia plans to lease and occupy a small part of the Building) without taking steps to 
mitigate the VI risk.  The YWCA is seeking funding from the Authority to pay for the costs of this VI assessment 
and cleanup planning.  

 The proposed scope of services included in this work order includes seeking U.S. EPA eligibility, preparing 
a Health and Safety Plan (HASP), and a Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) for the site. Additional services include 
Pressure Field Extension (PFE) testing to assess the building conditions and system requirements. Further cleanup 
planning involves the design of the vapor mitigation system (VMS). A budget for project management inclusive of 
coordination and communication regarding the EPA grant related costs is also included in this work order. Costs 
associated with the actual installation of the VMS are not included in the EPA grant request. 

II. Compensation 
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

PFE Testing ....................................................................................................................................................... $ 5,250 
VMS Design…….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………$15,000 
Project Management ....................................................................................................................................... $ 3,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #13.………………………………………………………………………………………………….$23,250 

III. Schedule 
An eligibility demonstration will be prepared immediately upon authorization to proceed and submitted to the 
KCBRA Brownfield Administrator for submittal to the U.S. EPA. Within one week of receiving elgibility, the HASP 
and SAP will be prepared. It takes approximately two weeks for the EPA to review the HASP and SAP documents.  
Once the SAP has been approved, the PFE testing can be scheduled with field work anticipated to be conducted 
within two weeks. The VMS design will take approximately three to four weeks. 

 



DRAFT









Brownfields 2023
at Huntington Place, 1 Washington Blvd, Detroit, MI 48226

Mileage: 65.5 cents/mile per diem rate ($182.75 from County Admin for 279 miles) 

Mobile Work Shops: average $25 

Lodging: $133 per diem rate 

Meals & Incidentals: $64 a day per diem rate 

Parking: $25 

Registration: $50-$325  

STAFF –  $1,400 budget 

Registration $200  

Hotel $458.85

Per Diem Meals & incidentals $256 

Workshop $25 

Mileage $182.75 

Parking $100 

PREVIOUSLY SPENT – 

- Grover 2022: $1,622.21 
- Walters 2023: $1,400 ( )

Remaining estimated $1,500 for board members in 2023 
(funds up to three members with registration  and
mileage) 





800.456.3824
fi shbeck.com

NEW BROWNFIELD INCENTIVES 
FOR HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

Michigan and other states face a shortage in housing 
stock, and new construction of all types of housing is 
needed. Construction costs have continued to increase 
over the past years. Materials and labor costs have 
made new housing construction unaffordable for many, 
especially the workforce housing market.

To help communities, developers, and construction 
companies move forward on housing development 

Redevelopment Financing Act. The amendment 
allows state and local tax increment revenues to 
reimburse Housing Development Activities, which 
include the following:

• Infrastructure improvements that support housing

• Demolition and site preparation that supports housing

•

•

• Acquisition costs of blighted or obsolete rental units
which promote rehabilitation/adaptive reuse for

annual income is not more than 120% of the area
median income)

The amendment additionally:

• Creates a new “Eligible Property” category of “Housing
Property” that broadly encompasses any structure used
for a dwelling and where construction or rehabilitation is
proposed.

• Allows any increased tax revenues from a Payment in

revenues, which can then be captured through a

•
Plan.

• Increases allowable annual maximum administrative
expense of the Authority.

•

• No longer requires state approval to use school tax

lead, mold abatement, and demolition.

• Allows market rate housing development projects to
take advantage of these changes without approval of an
Act 381 Work Plan, expediting and increasing potential
tax increment revenue for a project.

•
enhancements to the Act.

tool. Fishbeck stands ready to assist you with evaluating the application of this expanded tool on your next project.











Scope of Services

Contract for Professional Services 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Applicable to Contract Dated November 15, 2021 
Work Order No. 6 Dated May 31, 2022 
Amendment No. 1 Dated July 27, 2023 

Between 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  And FISHBECK (FISHBECK) 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 2960 INTERSTATE PARKWAY 
201 WEST KALAMAZOO AVENUE  KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49048 
KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 49007-3777 

Subject Matter: City of Parchment, Cleanup Planning 
Funding Source: FY21 U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant 

Task 3 – Brownfield Plans and Cleanup Planning 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Mr. Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 
Date ______________ Date ______________ 



Work Order No. 6, Amendment No. 1 
July 27,2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

\\CORP.FTCH.COM\ALLPROJECTS\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK 
ORDERS\WORK ORDER 6, AMENDMENT NO. 1 - CITY OF PARCHMENT CLEANUP PLANNING.DOCX 

I. Scope of Services 
The property that is the subject of this Work Order is the Former Parchment Mill Site #2 in Parchment, Michigan. 
The City of Parchment originally obtained the property through tax reversion in 2001 after Crown Vantage Inc. 
declared bankruptcy. These parcels were purchased from the City of Parchment by River Reach Partners LLC in 
December 2008. River Reach Partners LLC did not develop the property and was deemed in default of a 
Development Agreement with the City of Parchment. In lieu of enforcing remedies for the default, the City of 
Parchment regained ownership of the property in January of 2020 in order to have control and direct future 
development. 

City of Parchment has been continuously working on plans to improve the redevelopment potential for the 
property. Efforts have included completion of a Master Plan which incorporates specific objectives for this 
property, rezoning of the property, conceptual ideas for development, and ongoing community conversations. 
Additionally, Fishbeck helped the City secure a competitively determined technical assistance from the Technical 
Assistance for Brownfield Communities program. This Resources Roundtable put the City’s project in front of the 
U.S. EPA, EGLE, brownfield policy experts, and community planning experts to secure their input for future 
funding sources and strategies. Efforts are ongoing with State and Federal legislators to explore funding programs 
to support the project. In addition, it is the intent of the City to pursue a U.S. EPA Brownfield Multipurpose Grant 
for FY 2023.  

To improve and advance the City’s efforts related to this site, additional cleanup planning activities are warranted 
and are the subject of this Work Order. Specific activities that Fishbeck envisions include: 

1. Following up on the Resources Roundtable discussion and with specific questions and concerns 
2. Development of Development Visualizations/Concepts and environmental concerns 
3. Community Engagement Meetings 
4. Development of Preliminary Cleanup and Demolition Activities and Preliminary Budgets 
5. Meetings with City BRA, Planning Commission, and City Commission as needed 

II. Compensation 
Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time and materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT 
not-to-exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

The proposed budget approved in Work Order #6 estimated the level of effort and associated costs to complete 
the scope of services. This Amendment No. 1 accounts for the extended level of effort and time it has taken to 
complete the approved activities. The requested budget will allow for completion of the Final Project Document 
to finalize the U.S. EPA Grant funded portion of this project. 

Cleanup Planning 
Follow up on Resources Roundtable ....................................................................................................... $ 2,000 
Development of Visualizations ................................................................................................................ $ 1,500 
Community Engagement Meetings ......................................................................................................... $ 3,000 
Technical Review/Assessment Needs/Data Quality Objectives ............................................................... $ 3,000 
Cleanup and Demolition Planning, Preliminary Budget Development .................................................... $ 7,500 
City Meetings .......................................................................................................................................... $ 3,000 

Estimated Budget – Work Order #6 ............................................................................................................... $  20,000 
Amendment No. 1.......................................................................................................................................... $ 2,000 
EEstimated Total Project Costs ................................................................................................................... $ 22,000 



Work Order No. 6, Amendment No. 1 
July 27,2023 Fishbeck | Page 3 
 

\\CORP.FTCH.COM\ALLPROJECTS\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK 
ORDERS\WORK ORDER 6, AMENDMENT NO. 1 - CITY OF PARCHMENT CLEANUP PLANNING.DOCX 

III. Schedule 
Initial work was anticipated to be ongoing through the Summer and Fall of 2022. The Final Project Document is 
anticipated to be completed in August of 2023. 



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist, Therese Searles, Senior Geologist 

DATE: July 19, 2023 

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant. 

11. Community Outreach and Programmatic
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2 

Update: 

Fishbeck attended the June committee meetings. Project updates to ACRES were made and meeting 
materials were prepared. 

2. Parchment Mill Site
Project No: E220154 – W.O. 6

Update: 

The City of Parchment has been continuously working on plans to improve the redevelopment potential for the 
property. After a failed attempt by a previous developer, the city regained ownership of the property in 2020. To 
improve and advance the City’s efforts related to this site, additional cleanup planning activities are warranted 
and are the subject of the Work Order that was approved by the KCBRA.  Specific activities envisioned include: 

1. Following up on the Resources Roundtable Discussion and with specific questions and concerns

2. Development of Development Visualizations/Concepts and environmental concerns.

3. Community Engagement Meetings

4. Development of Preliminary Cleanup and Demolition Activities and Preliminary Budgets

5. Meetings with City BRA, Planning Commission, City Commission as needed.

To-date Fishbeck has developed a tri-fold brochure and banner, prepared for and staffed a booth at the 
Kindleberger Festival to get interested citizens to sign up for future notifications about the Mill activities so they 
can be informed and included in the discussions. Fishbeck has had several meetings and planning sessions with 
the City Council and the Planning Commission. An initial community engagement event was held on August 23, 
2022 at the Parchment District library to assess community input regarding redevelopment plans. Another 
community engagement event was completed at the Parchment District Library on September 20th. Based on 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
July 19, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\JULY 2023\KCBRA 
EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 7-19-23.DOCX 

community input, specific future land uses preferred by the community have been identified. A Site-wide project 
needs list has been developed. Based on the definition of the project, we drafted a project plan, preliminary 
budgets, potential cleanup and goals, etc. Those project plans were used to craft the EPA grant request (the 
actual grant proposal writing will not be paid by the County BRA). Updated accomplishments were presented to 
the KCBRA board at their December 15th meeting. Fishbeck has prepared the Roadmap to Redevelopment and 
distributed it to various stakeholders for their review. EPA did notify the city that the multipurpose grant will be 
awarded to the City of Parchment. There are no invoices for consideration this month. An amended work order is 
being prepared for consideration at the July KCBRA meeting for the additional budget needed to complete the 
final project documentation for the scope of work funded by Kalamazoo County’s EPA assessment grant.  

 

33. Watershed LLC – 6667 Stadium Drive, Oshtemo Township 
Project No: 230922 – W.O. 7 

Update: 

The property consists of one parcel that is approximately 1.33 acres and is developed with a 3,726-square-foot 
former schoolhouse building that was constructed in 1870 and located at 6667 Stadium Drive in Oshtemo 
Township. The southern addition to the former schoolhouse building was constructed in the 1950s. Also, an 
approximately 5,700-square-foot former bus garage exists on the property. Years without use and significant 
water intrusion have caused the structure to become severely dilapidated and unsafe in its current condition. 
Shannon and Kevin Brown, the property owners and doing business as Watershed LLC, have plans to redevelop 
the structures into a mixed-use redevelopment. The main building (former schoolhouse) will be converted into 
three commercial spaces on the first floor, and the second floor will be renovated into two residential 
apartments. As a second stage of redevelopment, the former bus garage is intended to be renovated into an 
indoor recreational space for baseball practice. The Browns have submitted a project application to the KCBRA 
requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. EPA Assessment Grant to perform an asbestos 
survey to determine if asbestos-containing materials exist that will require abatement prior to renovation. Grant 
support is also sought for Brownfield Plan evaluation activities to work with the township assessor to determine 
anticipated Future Taxable Value and run TIF modeling to determine if a Brownfield Plan would be an appropriate 
tool for this project. U.S. EPA eligibility was received on May 12, 2023. A Health and Safety Plan and Sampling and 
Analysis Plan have been prepared and submitted to the EPA. The HASP was accepted and the SAP was approved 
by the USEPA on June 13, 2023. However, the developers encountered significantly higher redevelopment costs 
than expected decided to halt redevelopment and list the property for sale. Unused budgets allocated to this 
project were returned to support future projects. However, a new buyer and developer has come forward and is 
interested in conducting the proposed assessment and seeking funding support through the KCBRA. A project 
application and associated work order is anticipated for consideration at the July KCBRA meeting. 

 

4. Midlink Business Park Expansion – Comstock Charter Township 
Project No: 230923 – W.O. 10 

Update: 

The project developer (5200 East Cork Street Investors, LLC) is requesting an amendment to the Midlink 
Brownfield Plan to include funding for eligible expenses related to constructing a new 165,000-square-foot 
speculative warehouse/light manufacturing building on 14 acres of surplus land at Midlink Business Park.  

It is likely that the Brownfield Plan for this project will need to be amended to accommodate additional costs 
related to the expansion. The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment revenues — 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
July 19, 2023  Fishbeck | Page 3 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\JULY 2023\KCBRA 
EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 7-19-23.DOCX 

though at this time, the projected amount of new, additional tax increment revenues has not been determined. 
There is also an evaluation needed on remaining reimbursable expenses, sequencing of reimbursement, and 
timing. The KCBRA approved a work order to conduct project planning activities associated with an anticipated 
Brownfield Plan Amendment. U.S. EPA eligibility was received on May 12, 2023. Meetings were held in June 
between Fishbeck and Midlink to understand the scope of brownfield eligible activities. Fishbeck has completed 
TIF modeling on the proposed Brownfield Plan Amendment and is preparing a memorandum of the plan 
evaluation findings.  

 

55. Comstock Center Redevelopment – 10 parcels at King Highway and River Street, Comstock Charter Township 
Project No: 230924 – W.O. 8 

Update: 

Comstock Charter Township desires to redevelop 10 parcels at the southeast corner of King Highway and River 
Street in Comstock Center into a mixed-use redevelopment. At this time, neither a specific plan nor a developer 
have been identified. It has been determined that assessment will inform the redevelopment needs and assist in 
moving the project forward. Comstock Charter Township has engaged with each property owner regarding site 
access for assessment purposes. The KCBRA approved a project application requesting funding support through 
the use of the County’s U.S. EPA Assessment Grant to conduct Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments 
(ESAs), and if needed, a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), Due Care Documentation, and preparation of 
a Brownfield Plan. U.S. EPA eligibility was received on May 12, 2023. The Phase I ESA is complete and identified 
five Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) related to former site uses of laundromat and automotive 
services, a former machine shop, and one parcel with documentation of a tank but no record of removal or 
assessment. Fishbeck will be recommending further assessment, consistent with the approved Phase II budget, to 
conduct a GPR survey to assess the tank and Geoprobe soil boring installation to assess soil and groundwater. 
Fishbeck will begin preparation of a HASP and SAP in association with recommended activities.  

 

1. Eliza Street Expansion – Village of Schoolcraft  
Project No: 230914 – W.O. 9 

Update:  

This is a property where the Kalamazoo County BRA has previously had a significant role in supporting 
redevelopment. 555 Eliza Street is a Clarklogic-owned property. A vacant parcel to the south of Eliza Street is 
being redeveloped with a 126,000-square-foot warehousing building. As construction began, unsuitable soils 
were encountered which will require offsite disposal. There is also concern that about the environmental 
condition of the site and specifically if vapor mitigation controls are required for this new construction. Services 
related to soil management and assessing vapor intrusion considerations will not be funded through the EPA 
grant and will be covered under KCBRA  general environmental services. 

A Brownfield Plan is in place for this site. The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment 
revenues — though at this time, the projected amount of new, additional tax increment revenues has not been 
determined. A Brownfield Plan Evaluation was approved by the KCBRA to have Fishbeck work with the local 
Assessor to estimate future tax revenues and provide the Authority with different schedules to show how the 
future taxes can be used to pay for costs previously incurred by the Authority, costs previously incurred by 
Clarklogic, loan repayment obligations the County has to EGLE, and future costs related to this development. This 
evaluation will also aid the Authority in considering any request for the use of Local Brownfield Revolving Funds. 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
July 19, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 4 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\JULY 2023\KCBRA 
EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 7-19-23.DOCX

It is likely that the Brownfield Plan for this project will need to be amended to accommodate additional costs 
related to the new development. Once a clear path is determined for how tax increment revenues will be 
dispensed (i.e., to whom and in what order), Fishbeck will amend the Plan as necessary, prepare new public 
notices, and help staff communicate with the Village of Schoolcraft on the matter. Fishbeck will also review the 
Development and Reimbursement Agreement and suggest any necessary changes to support agreed upon 
support from the Village and the BRA. Fishbeck has received total project eligible costs from Clarklogic and an 
estimated Future Taxable Value (FTV) from the Assessor for the Village of Schoolcraft. Preliminary TIF modeling 
has been initiated.  Further Brownfield Plan evaluation activities will continue next month.  





Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist, Therese Searles, Senior Geologist 

DATE: July 19, 2023 

RE: General/LBRF Funding Updates 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

1. General Environmental Review
Project No: 230454 – W.O. 2023-1

UUpdate:

General Review: Fishbeck is completing soil investigation activities and oversight of the
evaluation of a Vapor Intrusion Mitigation system for the Eliza street expansion. Fishbeck has
communicated with developers submitting new project applications including Hollander
Development for a housing project on the northside of Kalamazoo and Schupan regarding an
expansion in the Midlink Business Park.
Contractual Administrative Support: No activities to report this month.

2. Paper City Development – EGLE Grant Oversight
Project No: E190048 – W.O. 2019-2

Update:
The team is preparing to close out the grant. There are no activities to report this month.

3. Paper City Development – EGLE Loan Oversight
Project No: E190148 – W.O. 2019-4

Update:
No activities to report this month.

4. 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp., MI
Project No: E210178 – W.O. 2021-2

Update:
No activities to report this month.





a







FUND 242
7/27/2023

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund - Fund 242
 (Previously Fund 643) Revenues Expenditures REV-EXP

LBRF From 2014 7,416.84 7,416.84
Transferred from Brown 7/6/2015 5,659.48 5,659.48

Transferred from Brown 12/31/2015 5,299.28 5,299.28
Transferred from Brown 8/2/2016 6,479.70 6,479.70

 Transfer from Brown 12/15/16 6,314.00 6,314.00
Transfer from Brown 7/27/17 6,984.90 6,984.90
Transfer from Brown 1/18/18 6,478.34 6,478.34

Transfer from Brown approved 5/24/18 - actual 8/16/18 8,607.43 8,607.43
Transfer from Corner @ Drake Actual 8/16/18 29,537.26 29,537.26

Transfer Corner @ Drake remaining 2018 8/2/19 32,737.66 32,737.66
Transfer Corner @ Drake (- reimb MTT Costco) 8/2/19 158,072.02 158,072.02

Transfer from Brown 8/2/19 11,262.63 11,262.63
Transfer from Metal Mechanics 10/14/19 2,309.82 2,309.82

Transfer from Metal Mechanics School 4/16/20 677.85 677.85
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/15/20 211,427.30 211,427.30

 Envirologic WO#31 E. Frank and N. Pitcher St 11/23/20 2,966.13 -2,966.13
Envirologic WO#2020-3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/1/20 4,516.58 -4,516.58

Envirologic WO#2020-3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/31/20 7,901.92 -7,901.92
Envirologic WO#2020-3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 1/28/21 235.00 -235.00

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/22/21 243,109.06 243,109.06
Transfer from 2747 S. 11th Street - Delta Marriott 9/27/21 2,100.00 2,100.00

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 9/27/21 632.18 632.18
Transfer from RAI Jets 10/28/21 11,148.99 11,148.99

Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 11,504.87 -11,504.87
Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 308.51 -308.51
Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 1,102.50 -1,102.50
Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 897.00 -897.00
Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 130.00 -130.00

Transfer from Midlink 2/24/22 394,228.36 394,228.36
Tansfer from General  Mills 2/24/22 310,467.33 310,467.33

Transfer from RAI Jets 4/29/22 13,871.91 13,871.91
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 4/29/22 217,535.53 217,535.53

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 6/23/22 2,332.92 2,332.92
Envirologic WO#2021-2 3800 Wynn Road BEA Due Care 225.00 -225.00

Transfer from Scannell 9/22/22 9,245.50 9,245.50
Transfer from General Mills 11/17/22 48,943.82 48,943.82

440 NC, LLC invoice packet pending 5/25/23 15,000.00 -15,000.00
Subtotals 1,752,880.11 44,787.51 1,708,092.60

1,708,092.60$    
*see Expense Detail 2023 for outstanding workorders

Fund 242 TOTAL to date




